1{OCKI‘IILL Planning Commission Minutes

SOUTH CAROLINA September 2, 2025

A public hearing of the Planning Commission was held on Tuesday, September 2, 2025,
at 6 p.m. in City Council Chambers, 155 Johnston Street, Rock Hill SC.

MEMBERS PRESENT Randy Graham, Duane Christopher, Shelly Goodner, M.
Stephanie Haselrig, Darrell Watts, Jarrunis Yates

MEMBERS ABSENT Jonathan Nazeer

STAFF PRESENT Shana Marshburn, Leah Youngblood, Christopher Herrmann,
and Ainsley Ellis

1. Call to Order
Chair Graham called the meeting to order at 6 p.m.
2. Recite the Pledge of Allegiance
3. Recognitions
a. Introduce Jarrunis (JR) Yates as a new Planning Commission member.
4. Approval of minutes of the July 1, 2025, meeting.

Vice Chair Christopher made a motion to approve the minutes as submitted.
Commissioner Haselrig seconded, and the motion carried by a vote of 6-0
(Nazeer absent).

5. Public Hearing Items

a. Hold a public hearing and consider a recommendation to City Council
on petition M-2025-13 by Kristen and Michael Sloan, to rezone
approximately 12.14 acres at 3263 Homestead Rd. from Single Family-
5 (SF-5) to Rural (RU). Tax Parcel 590-04-01-001.

Shana Marshburn, Planner lll, presented the staff report.

Chair Graham asked for clarification on the individuals predicted to be living
on the lot. Ms. Marshburn stated that the applicant will be purchasing the lot
and living on site with their family. She stated that Southern Disclosure
would act as a residency for guests to stay for two days up to three weeks,
but the guests would not be permanently living on site. Chair Graham
confirmed that the dwelling units will be inhabited only by individuals who
are related to the owners, therefore, this use is permitted within the Rural
zoning district.

Chair Graham opened the floor to the applicant. Kristen and Michael
Sloan, 2298 Willow Creek Rd, presented their proposal to the
Commission.

Commissioner Watts asked whether this proposal would be a business.
Mr. Sloan stated that the permaculture farm will not be a business and that
it is just for their personal enjoyment. Commissioner Watts asked whether
the farm would be small and whether there would be tractors and large

Page 1 of 7



Planning Commission Minutes September 2, 2025

equipment. Mr. Sloan confirmed that the farm is projected to be smaller,
therefore, there would not be any tractors, large equipment, nor any
livestock.

Chair Graham asked how many people would be staying with the owner at
a time. Mr. Sloan stated that no more than two guests would be staying
overnight at one time.

Commissioner Haselrig asked how the applicants determine who is able to
stay with them. Ms. Sloan stated that she reaches out to artistic and
creative individuals in her community and asks whether they want to stay
at the permaculture farm and they then formalize the agreement. She
stated that sometimes these individuals receive small grants to stay at the
permaculture farm, whereas sometimes people want to relax and stay
there or work on any projects. She stated that she had asked some artists
about whether they wanted to do any work based on their experience
staying at the farm and they agreed. She went to add that there are no
formal applications, as she hosts these guests alongside completing her
everyday tasks such as cooking and cleaning.

Commissioner Yates asked for the average number of people that stay at
the permaculture farm during any year. Ms. Sloan stated that she has had
at least one person a year in the past six to seven years. She compared it
to bed and breakfast and added that the most amount of people she has
had staying there was three in a year, and that those are just the overnight
guests. She stated that there are more frequent visits during the year to
their other location. Mr. Sloan noted that the current setup is an apartment
over an artist studio.

Chair Graham opened the floor for public comment. Craig Cox, 129 Pine
Eagle Drive, asked whether there would be a cost involved for people to
visit. Mr. Sloan stated that there would be no cost to visit the permaculture
farm.

There being no further discussion amongst the Commission and no other
members of the public wishing to speak, Chair Graham closed the
discussion.

Commissioner Haselrig made a motion to recommend approval of the
rezoning of 3263 Homestead Rd. from Single Family-5 (SF-5) to Rural (RU).
The motion was seconded by Vice Chair Christopher. The motion was
approved by a vote of 6-0 (Nazeer absent).

b. Hold a public hearing and consider a recommendation to City Council
on petition T-2025-01 by the Rock Hill City Council to amend or
eliminate the Design Overlay District (DOD) standards and properties
included within the district.

Leah Youngblood, Planning and Development Director, presented the staff
report.

Page 2 of 7



Planning Commission Minutes September 2, 2025

Chair Randy Graham asked whether the buffer for the heavy industrial use
against interstate or access ramps would include any land within the
SCDOT’s right-of-way. Staff confirmed that the buffers would be one
hundred feet from the edge of the right-of-way into the property.

Commissioner Darrell Watts asked whether the new sidewalk fee-in-lieu
would be set aside for specific purposes only. Staff confirmed the fee-in-lieu
would be set aside for the specific purpose of sidewalk maintenance or
installation.

Vice Chair Duane Christopher asked about the articulation on commercial
buildings. Staff explained that the Zoning Ordinance already sets forth
articulation standards for commercial and industrial buildings, but the
Design Overlay District requires articulation on all sides of commercial
except the “back of house” side and that staff is proposing to bring forward
a slightly modified version of that standard into the Zoning Ordinance.

Vice Chair Christopher asked whether the proposed standards would be
applied across the City or just within the Design Overlay District. Staff
confirmed that its recommendation is to eliminate the Design Overlay
District and apply some of the standards from it across the City.

Chair Graham asked whether the standards proposed to be added to the
Zoning Ordinance are in addition to the City’s current standards. Staff
explained that it depends on the topic—some would be added to the Zoning
Ordinance for the first time and while other topics are already in the Zoning
Ordinance but are proposed to be modified in some way.

Commissioner Stephanie Haselrig asked for clarification on the standards
that are proposed to be eliminated from the Design Overlay District. Staff
listed a few examples including enhanced architectural design standards for
carports and sheds, and colors on townhouses. She added that many
residential standards from the Design Overlay District were incorporated
into the Zoning Ordinance after the creation of the Design Overlay District.

Commissioner Darrell Watts asked whether as a whole the proposed
changes would reduce bureaucratic control of architecture, and noted that
he would be in support of the changes if that is the case. He stated that he
is concerned about regulating architectural design without architectural
professionals being involved. He asked whether the corrugated metal
roofing and siding would be totally restricted. Staff confirmed that the Zoning
Ordinance already restricts the use of corrugated metal on primary
structures.

Commissioner Watts asked whether the proposed changes would reduce
regulation overall. Staff explained that the proposed regulations would be
less on the properties currently within the Design Overlay District but would
be more for properties currently outside the district.

Commissioner J.R. Yates asked whether staff have studied whether these
types of regulations would negatively impact development. Staff explained
that we have not completed such a study but City Council always asks staff
to return with feedback about that after making Zoning Ordinance changes
in case additional changes need to be made.

Page 3 of 7



Planning Commission Minutes September 2, 2025

Chair Graham opened the floor for public comment. There was none.

Chair Graham stated that some areas do not need sidewalks at all and that
property owners should not be required to pay a fee-in-lieu of sidewalks
when that is the case.

Commissioner Haselrig questioned whether the developers who would be
impacted by these proposed changes were given an opportunity to give
input into them. Staff responded that last week, we sent the proposed
changes to a group of local developers and design professionals who have
asked to be made aware of potential Zoning Ordinance changes before they
go forward for consideration. We received one email with questions in
response and noted that additional feedback would be sought from local
developers and design professionals before consideration of final reading
at an upcoming event.

Commissioner Shelley Goodner asked whether there was a reason why
staff did not wait until after the event before presenting the proposed Design
Overlay District standards for consideration. Staff stated that there are
properties being affected that are on strict time frames to make decisions.

Commissioner Watts noted that the timing for the Planning Commission
meeting was tough because of the holiday weekend and short time frame
to review the proposed changes. He asked whether the current regulations
were causing developers to walk away from a potential project and whether
the current proposal is a response to that. Staff stated that one hotel had
not been able to build due to the brick or stone requirement and that while
we had heard concerns about the physical articulation requirement for
industrial buildings, we could not think of any examples of projects that had
not been constructed as a result. Commissioner Watts asked whether this
proposal would successfully address these issues. Staff confirmed that the
proposal would address these issues.

Vice Chair Christopher asked about the articulation requirements for
warehouses and distribution centers. Staff explained that those buildings
would not be required to physically move in and out any longer and instead
would create variation through the use of different colors and panel sizes.
She noted that these projects would still be required to have vertical
articulation.

Commissioner Goodner asked whether the proposed rear design standards
for residential developments would allow for decks. Staff stated that decks
would not be allowed as a way to meet the standard as the ordinance is
drafted but that could be changed before final reading if desired.

Chair Graham said that the City already has strong design standards, which
was a concern when the Design Overlay District was created since it would
add requirements on top of those that already existed. He stated that the
original catalyst for creating the Design Overlay District is now gone and
that he does not understand the recommendation to add some of those
higher standards to the Zoning Ordinance now.

Page 4 of 7



Planning Commission Minutes September 2, 2025

Commissioner Haselrig noted that her concern is with the additional
residential design standards and how they will add cost for development
and will make it harder for builders to develop in Rock Hill.

Commissioner Watts agreed that it seems like staff is proposing to relieve
commercial projects from the higher standards of the Design Overlay
District while also putting more costs on residential buildings. He asked
whether the Planning Commission is required to make a final decision
tonight or whether it could defer its decision to give them more time to
consider the proposed changes. Chair Graham confirmed that the Planning
Commission needs to make a recommendation tonight because the
proposed changes are going to City Council for consideration of first reading
next week.

After the public hearing and discussion, Vice Chair Christopher made a
motion to recommend approval of the proposed changes. The motion was
seconded by Commissioner Yates. The motion failed by a vote of 2-4
(Nazeer absent).

c. Hold a public hearing and consider a recommendation to City Council
on petition T-2025-02 by the Rock Hill City Council to amend the
Zoning Ordinance affecting Chapter 10: Nonconformities, in relation
to nonconforming sites and residential-to-commercial conversions.

Leah Youngblood, Planning and Development Director, presented the staff
report.

Vice Chair Duane Christopher asked about what the project cost includes.
Staff responded that it is the amount listed on the building permit application
and would not include voluntary site improvements.

Chair Randy Graham asked whether the only change to the residential-to-
commercial conversion scenario would be regarding sidewalks. Staff
confirmed that the sidewalks topic is the only proposed change for
residential-to-commercial conversion projects.

Commissioner Stephanie Haselrig asked for clarification on the sidewalk
fee-in-lieu option. Staff stated that the fee-in-lieu would be a new option that
property owners could select instead of installing a sidewalk where the
sidewalk would not connect to adjacent ones. The City would then use the
funds for the maintenance or installation of sidewalks. The Commissioners
had more general discussion about the fee-in-lieu option.

Commissioner Darrell Watts asked whether the 10% rule would apply to
tenants within a multi-tenant commercial center. Staff stated that the rule
would apply in that situation, which has always been the case.
Commissioner Watts stated he found this to be unfair.

Commissioner Shelly Goodner asked whether the proposed changes would
make the regulations less burdensome and staff replied in the affirmative.

Commissioner Goodner asked whether the fagade alternative had been in
place previously. Staff stated that it is not listed as an option in the current
regulations.

Page 5 of 7



Planning Commission Minutes September 2, 2025

Chair Graham noted that he was concerned about requiring parking lots to
be repaved when they had been paved but the surfacing had deteriorated.
Staff clarified that paving would only be required for unpaved lots but that
deteriorated surfaces would need to be repaired as part of ordinary site
maintenance.

Commissioner Goodner asked for clarification about whether a property
owner could take the money required to be spent on correcting
nonconforming sites and put it towards improving the building fagcade
instead. Staff confirmed that the property owner could choose whether to
correct nonconforming site elements or improve the appearance of the
building.

Chair Graham asked how the corrections would be prioritized. Staff stated
that the Zoning Ordinance would set forth recommended priorities but that
the property owner would decide where to use the money.

Commissioner Watts asked whether staff would require the paving of a
gravel lot if a paved lot also exists on the property that meets the parking
requirements. Staff said that it depends on the specifics of the site and the
land use involved.

Chair Graham asked whether there has been any thought on scaling the
costs for the more expensive projects and decreasing the percentage
required to be spent on correcting nonconformities. Staff responded that the
intent is to have a $100,000 cap, and that staff would add that to the
proposed amendments.

Commissioner J.R. Yates asked who determines which site corrections are
needed. Staff explained the feasibility program for existing buildings where
staff gives applicants information about required site and building
modifications after an on-site visit.

Chair Graham asked for clarification on whether staff is recommending to
raise the project cost that triggers these nonconforming site corrections from
$100,000 to $200,000. Staff confirmed that the recommendation is to
increase the threshold for site improvements to be triggered from $100,000
to $200,000.

Chair Graham opened the floor for public comment. There was none.

Commissioner Haselrig made a motion to recommend approval of the
proposed changes with the addition of a $100,000 cap. The motion was
seconded by Commissioner Watts. The motion was approved by a vote of
6-0 (Commissioner Jonathan Nazeer absent).

6. NEW BUSINESS

a. Consideration of a request by Josiah Pott for Preliminary Plat approval
for Linkwood Road Industrial Buildings at 598 Linkwood Rd. and an
unaddressed parcel along Linkwood Road. (Plan #20250843)

Shana Marshburn, Planner lll, presented the staff report.

Commissioner Watts asked whether there are architectural guidelines or
requirements for the preliminary plat approval. Ms. Marshburn stated that

Page 6 of 7



Planning Commission Minutes September 2, 2025

staff had not been provided with building plans yet. She noted that there is
language within the Zoning Ordinance that allows staff to be flexible in the
required design for new buildings that are located in areas where many of
the existing buildings do not meet a substantial amount of the requirements.
She went on to state that staff would work with the developer utilizing that
provision.

Chair Graham inquired about the Design Overlay District sidewalk
standards and how that would fit into this project. Ms. Youngblood stated
the developers would need to pay into the fee-in-lieu fund.

Commissioner Watts asked whether the applicant is aware of the proposed
changes to the Design Overlay District. Ms. Marshburn stated that she will
have to look into it with the applicant because his application was before the
proposed standards changes.

Chair Graham confirmed that in the case that the Planning Commission
approved the preliminary plat at this meeting, it will be under the current
guidelines, not the proposed text amendments on the Design Overlay
District and Nonconforming sites that were agenda items earlier in the
meeting. Ms. Marshburn confirmed that this preliminary plat would be
operating under the current guidelines.

Commissioner Yates asked for clarification on the number of parking
spaces being provided and how many are required. Ms. Marshburn replied
that the Zoning Ordinance bases the required amount of parking spaces on
building square footage. She stated that there will be three one-story
buildings, and that the proposed 11,958 square foot building is required to
provide six spaces, while ten spaces are being proposed, and the remaining
two buildings at 11,825 square feet each are required to provide twelve
spaces but are providing a total of twenty-four spaces.

Chair Graham opened the floor to the applicant. The applicant was not
present.

Commissioner Goodner made a motion to recommend approval of the
request by Josiah Pott for Preliminary Plat approval. The motion was
seconded by Vice Chair Christopher. The motion was approved by a vote
of 6-0 (Nazeer absent).

b. Continuing education opportunities.

Staff reminded members about upcoming continuing education
opportunities in September and October 2025.

7. OTHER BUSINESS

a. Reminder about the upcoming joint workshop with the City Council on
September 22, 2025, regarding the Comprehensive Plan 5-Year Review.

8. Adjourn.
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 7:54 p.m.

Page 7 of 7



